ABSORPTION OF DRUGS FROM SUBCUTANEOUS CONNECTIVE TISSUE

JENS SCHOU

Institute of Pharmacology, University of Copenhagen, Denmark

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. Introduction	441
II. Early history of subcutaneous injection	442
III. Methods for studying the rate of absorption	443
A. Recording of post-absorptive symptoms	444
B. Analyzing drugs quantitatively in circulating blood	444
C. Chemical analysis in excretions and secretions	445
D. Tissue clearance methods	445
IV. Mechanism of subcutaneous absorption	446
A. Peripheral circulation	446
B. The absorbing membrane	448
C. Connective tissue ground substance	451
D. Self-depression of subcutaneous absorption	454
V. Drugs influencing the rate of subcutaneous absorption	457
A. Epinephrine	457
B. Hyaluronidase	457
C. Estrogenic hormones	458
D. Adrenal glucocorticoids	459
E. Antihistaminic agents	460
F. Diuretics.	460
VI. Conclusion	460

I. INTRODUCTION

As far as the present reviewer is aware, the subcutaneous absorption of drugs has not been reviewed in this century. Several reviews on gastrointestinal absorption and capillary permeability in general, however, have continued to appear. The explanation is the physiological importance of the last-mentioned subjects, whereas subcutaneous absorption is of interest mainly to pharmacologists in connection with administration of drugs.

The task has been both simple and complicated: simple because the literature has not been reviewed recently; complicated because of the sparse number of experimental articles devoted primarily to subcutaneous absorption. The information appears in papers and in abstracts under varying topics such as connective tissue, capillary permeability, capillary blood flow, absorption, *etc.* Therefore, valuable papers may have been overlooked by the reviewer. The authors of such papers will be first to understand the difficulties in finding the literature about the subject, and will probably be the first to excuse the reviewer. Furthermore, many of the studies concerning subcutaneous absorption have been performed in the research departments of the drug industry in attempts to meet the practical requests for techniques for delaying the action of injected drugs; such studies have often remained unpublished.

In an attempt to make the review clear and concentrated, only problems related specifically to subcutaneous absorption have been considered. We have refrained from considering subjects of more general interest, such as absorption and passage through capillary membranes. Although the physicochemical properties and lipid solubility of the drugs are important factors for the rate of absorption, they will be mentioned only in passing. Attention has been concentrated on how treatment with drugs and hormones, administered locally or systemically, may alter the rate of absorption by influencing the condition of the connective tissue, the capillary membranes, or the capillary flow. These limitations will stress our defective knowledge about the problems specific to subcutaneous absorption. The first recognition of the absorptive effect of subcutaneously injected drugs will be mentioned as an introduction. It is hoped that there will be a renaissance of the theoretical study of the mechanism of subcutaneous absorption in coming years.

II. EARLY HISTORY OF SUBCUTANEOUS INJECTION

Injection of drugs into the subcutaneous connective tissue is a relatively new method of drug-administration. Injection of blood and drug solutions intravenously has been known and used for more than three hundred years. The first subcutaneous injections described in the literature, however, were performed only about one hundred years ago.

The late introduction of the subcutaneous administration of drugs is explained by the fact that reasonably accurate syringes with piston and graduation scale, intended for small volumes of fluid, were first produced in the first half of the twentieth century. These were constructed for the injection of solutions of ferric chloride into cutaneous telangiectasias; an example is the syringe constructed by Pravaz (104) in 1853. This syringe has incorrectly been connected with the history of subcutaneous injection.

The first subcutaneous injection mentioned in the literature was administered by Alexander Wood of Edinburgh in 1853 (146). He used a syringe constructed by Ferguson for his injections of morphine in cases of neuralgia, where he intended to obtain a local analgetic action on the pains. Extensive information about the early history of the injection syringes and subcutaneous injections is given in historical reviews by Howard-Jones (63) and Mogey (96). Therefore only a few points of special interest that have not been stressed before will be mentioned here.

Undoubtedly Alexander Wood has the honour of being the first in the literature to describe the method of subcutaneous injection. However, it is also certain that Wood believed in only a local action of the injected drugs, as shown by the title of his first publication: New Method of Treating Neuralgia by the Direct Application of Opiates to the Painful Points. He stressed that the injections were to be given at the point of maximal tenderness to palpation, rather than where the patient localized the pains.

Usually the London surgeon Charles Hunter is given the honour of having realized first the systemic action of subcutaneously injected drugs. In 1858 he

wrote (67) that he had "... given up the localization of the remedy as proposed by Dr. Wood. ..." He started to inject the drugs at different non-diseased parts of the subcutaneous tissue and found: "... by the injection of the narcotic into the cellular tissue of a part distant from that affected with the neuralgia, the relief that follows appears quite as great as when the injection is into the cellular tissue of the neuralgia part." Thus, Charles Hunter stressed that the effect of a drug injected subcutaneously was independent of the topographic localization of the injection zone in relation to the diseased tissue.

The same point of view, however, had been propounded five months earlier by Benjamin Bell (9) who advised the use of subcutaneous injections of opiates or belladonna in the treatment of unconscious patients intoxicated with these two drugs. Bell writes that in these patients: "... absorption from the enfeebled stomach... may... not be counted on: we possess, in subcutaneous injections, a more direct, rapid, and trustworthy mode of conveying our remedy in the desired quantity into the circulating blood." In a case history Bell noted also that when he injected morphine to a patient suffering from sciatica "... into the glutaeal region of the opposite limb, which happened to lie next the edge of the bed," an absorptive effect of the subcutaneously injected drug occurred, and that the action was excellent.

Too little attention—or, more correctly, no attention—has been given to Benjamin Bell as the first to mention in print the post-absorptive action of subcutaneously injected drugs. The basis is apparently a question of human character. Charles Hunter understood the value of his own invention and knew how to secure its acceptance. In 1865 (68) he first mentioned his own hypodermic method, as applying to medicines thus injected for general effects in contrast to what he called *the local injection of Wood*. This gave rise to a prolonged controversy between the two doctors, which was concluded by a report from a committee appointed by the Medical and Chirurgical Society in London to resolve the matter. In this report (91) it was concluded that "... no difference has been observed in the effect of a drug subcutaneously injected, whether it be introduced near to, or at a distance from the part affected."

III. METHODS FOR STUDYING THE RATE OF ABSORPTION

Following a subcutaneous injection, a series of events occur simultaneously in the dynamic system. The drug passes from the subcutaneous depot to the blood (absorption), then from the blood to the tissues (distribution), and finally processes of elimination occur (excretion through the urine, sweat, bile, expired air, *etc.*, or chemical transformation). The true rate of absorption is defined as the amount of the injected substance that passes from the injected depot into the blood per unit of time. To examine the rate of absorption we should possess ideally a model consisting of an absorption zone and the vascularization of the area. To date this remains only an ideal. Therefore, many experimental methods have been introduced in attempts to develop methods for evaluating the rate of absorption in the dynamic system.

The first review on subcutaneous injections was given by Eulenburg in 1865

(43). In the third edition of his monograph, that appeared in 1875, the author mentioned the existing methods for the study of the rate of absorption, namely, 1) registration of the occurrence of systemic symptoms produced by the absorbed substance, 2) chemical analysis of the drug in the circulating blood, and 3) chemical determination of the drug in secretions or excretions of the injected organism. To date, only one more method can be added: 4) recording of the clearance of the injected drug from the local area. The last method is theoretically the method of choice. It gives a true picture of the amount absorbed, if we can exclude local spreading and inexact quantitative analysis of the remaining amount in the local area as sources of error. These factors are limitations of the method. Therefore, the first three methods mentioned are still in use to evaluate the rate of absorption, especially when the problem is the determination of action of drugs that influence the rate of absorption.

A. Recording of post-absorptive symptoms

The drawback of this method is evident when it is used to evaluate whether a given systemic treatment influences the rate of absorption from a subcutaneously given solution of a drug. An alteration of the time from injection of the latter until a certain symptom or sign occurs may be caused by a change in rate of absorption. Other possible explanations are qualitative or quantitative changes in the distribution of the drug, in the compartment available for distribution, in the mechanism of inactivation of the drug, in the sensitivity to the action of the drug, and in the mechanism of drug-elimination. When the problem is the elucidation of whether a substance added locally to the drug solution influences the absorption of the drug, the method is of more value. If the adjuvant substance is given in small amounts relative to the primary drug, a systemic action of the former may be excluded as the cause of the recorded alterations in the "absorption time." Therefore, the method has been used properly to demonstrate the delaying action of epinephrine on subcutaneous absorption (13), and the promotion of subcutaneous absorption produced by the addition of hyaluronidase to the injected drugs (4, 70, 71, 130).

B. Analyzing drugs quantitatively in circulating blood

If the problem is the evaluation of the effect on the rate of absorption of a substance given directly in the solution containing the test drug, then this method gives a direct answer. Examples of such substances are hyaluronidase (46, 81) and histamine (116, 117). As mentioned previously, the problems are more complex if the task is an attempt to evaluate the effect of systemic treatment on the absorption of drugs from subcutaneously injected depots. The rise of the initial part of the time-concentration curve cannot be taken directly as a measure of the rate of absorption, because it is also influenced by the factors already considered. The common view is that alterations in the initial part of the time-concentration curve are produced mainly by differences in the rate of absorption (141). However, if the volume of the compartment of distribution or the other factors mentioned are altered to a high degree, this may easily be recognized even

in the initial part of the curve. As a general rule, studies should be carried through as double cross-over experiments (115). To verify that an alteration demonstrated in the time-concentration curve determined on intact animals is caused by an alteration in absorption, the effect should be verified in doubly nephrectomized animals to exclude a renal mechanism of action (118). The concentration following intravenous infusion at logarithmically decreasing rates to intact animals should be unaltered by the treatment (121).

C. Chemical analysis in excretions and secretions

A thorough consideration of these methods will not be given, because of their limited practical value and use in studies concerning subcutaneous absorption. The information desired concerns the passage through the capillary membrane. In the dynamic system, the distance from the capillary membrane to the biological fluid on which analysis is performed is even larger, and too many indefinite factors are interposed to give valuable information. A similar method has been used to evaluate the permeability of the synovial membrane, when coloured substances were given intraarticularly and quantitative determinations are conducted on the urine; evidently, the method is unsatisfactory if only the urine is analyzed (11, 12, 40, 60, 101, 124, 125, 126, 127, 128, 129).

D. Tissue clearance methods

From a theoretical point of view, these methods are the most satisfactory. The drawback is that significant amounts of the injected substance may be removed from the local area of injection otherwise than by absorption through capillary membranes. The sources of error are 1) spreading from the local area and 2) drainage through the lymphatic system. The evaluation of the decrease in a subcutaneously injected depot may be recorded in two ways. The first allows only one analysis from each experimental animal; this involves excision of the local zone of injection, extraction of the injected substance from the tissue, and its quantitative analysis. The second method attempts to record the clearance of the injected drug from the surface of the injection site. Ideally, this method should allow a continuous registration of the remaining drug in the injected zone during the whole length of the absorptive phase.

With the first procedure, the aim is to extract the whole volume of tissue in which the drug may have spread. This should be done without extracting too large an amount of tissue, because of the potential error of obtaining large amounts of absorbed material from retained peripheral blood in the vascular system. Therefore, the animals should be bled before the sample of tissue is excised (6, 62). The addition to the injection of a coloured indicator has been employed in order to limit the excision to the tissue in which the drug has spread. An example is the addition of methylene blue to injected solutions of epinephrine (49). This may not be correct if the penetration of the two drugs through the tissue is unequal, which may be influenced by the experimental conditions. However, the greatest disadvantage of this method is that only a single sample

for analysis can be obtained from each animal. This precludes the possibility of performing cross-over experiments to elucidate the effect of a given treatment.

Therefore, the method of following the clearance of the injected substances from the surface of the site of injection appears to be more attractive. Although it is an intracutaneous method, the wheal-disappearance test should be mentioned here (84). This test consists in recording the time from injection until disappearance of the wheal. It is very similar to the quantitation of the spreading reaction which was developed five years later (37, 38, 39). Neither of these methods yields information about the rate of absorption of compounds dissolved in the injected fluid (8).

In recent years the method of choice for tissue clearance experiments has been the injection of solutions containing radioactive tracers. It may be considered a further development of the procedure of injecting coloured substances, the absorption of which was evaluated from the disappearance of the colour from the injected tissues (13).

The most commonly used tracer is ²⁴Na⁺ in ²⁴NaCl. Kety claimed in 1948 (77) that the disappearance of ²⁴NaCl from solutions injected subcutaneously in the human leg might be taken as a measure of the conditions of the peripheral circulation. The disappearance rate was delayed by epinephrine and by an arterial tourniquet (78). Many authors have used ²⁴Na⁺ and ¹³¹I⁻ for investigations of subcutaneous absorption (46, 47, 73, 85, 90, 138, 144). When the radioactivity is measured over the surface of the skin, variations in the filtering effect of the tissue (possibly caused by the treatment given) and the spreading of the injected fluid from the injected depot influence the results. The concentration should be determined also in the circulating blood as a control (46, 85). Still, the variations in the results obtained with tissue clearance experiments using radioactive tracers are large, and therefore the results need statistical evaluation. Although the method includes many advantages, we still do not possess an ideal method for the study of subcutaneous absorption, such as the model mentioned in the beginning of Section III.

IV. MECHANISM OF SUBCUTANEOUS ABSORPTION

A. Peripheral circulation

Three major questions must be considered regarding the importance of the peripheral circulation for the subcutaneous absorption of drugs: 1) Does the sole or major degree of absorption into the blood occur locally in the zone of injection? 2) Through which vessel walls do drugs pass from the tissue depot to the circulating blood? 3) Is the passage due only to diffusion, or do processes such as filtration or active transport influence the absorption of drugs from the perivascular tissue into the circulating blood?

Concerning the first question, it was shown as early as 1892, by Asher (2), that subcutaneously injected sodium iodide is absorbed directly into the blood stream, while absorption through the lymphatic system *via* the thoracic duct into the blood is of no quantitative significance. He found that sodium iodide was rapidly demonstrable in the blood when injected subcutaneously on the crus

of a rabbit in which the thigh was cut, leaving only the main artery and vein intact. Starling and Tubby (137) also showed experimentally direct hematogenous absorption, and invalidated the theory of Heidenhain according to which absorption is chiefly via the lymphatic system, and only secondarily into the blood. This has been verified by later workers, including Okuneff (97) and Wepf (145), using different methods. Following subcutaneous injection of isotonic solutions of sodium chloride into the legs, Stone and Miller (138) found that only 1% of the injected salt passed the thoracic duct, while the rest passed through the femoral vein. Thus, many investigations have confirmed direct absorption into the blood.

We have less knowledge from which to answer the second question. It has not been possible experimentally to elucidate whether molecules are absorbed only through the walls of capillaries, or whether small veins or other vessels also take part in the process of absorption.

This problem is closely related to the third question, namely, whether absorption is due only to diffusion of molecules through the vessel walls. If this is the case, absorption must occur predominantly through the capillary walls. This can be shown mathematically, primarily because of the much higher frequency of capillaries in the tissue, which results in a shorter mean distance of diffusion to capillaries than to veins. A second line of evidence is the structure and thinness of capillary walls in comparison with other vessels, and a third is the much larger total surface of capillaries, compared to other vessels, in a zone of peripheral tissue (141). The three factors mentioned all point to the capillaries as the only important vessels concerned with subcutaneous absorption.

In 1895 Starling (136) advanced his brilliant theory about the paracapillary circulation (*i.e.*, the exchange between the capillaries and the extracellular fluid), about which there is no doubt today. Starling thought that filtration occurs in the arterial end of capillaries, due to the predominance of hydrostatic pressure over the plasma colloid osmotic pressure, while reabsorption occurs in the venous part of the capillaries, where the colloid osmotic pressure exceeds the hydrostatic pressure in the vessels. Another explanation has been given by Chambers and Zweifach (19), who claimed that outward filtration occurs in specialized arteriovenous capillaries, in which the hydrostatic pressure is higher than in true capillaries because of shorter lengths and larger intraluminal diameters at the arterial end. In the true capillaries they postulated that only reabsorption (inward filtration) occurs.

As mentioned before, it is commonly believed that dissolved substances are absorbed by diffusion from the perivascular fluid into the blood through the capillary walls. Because of the paracapillary circulation, there must exist a fluid continuum through the capillary wall, possibly in pores through the interendothelial substance or the endothelial cells (98, 99, 105).

Hyman *et al.* (73) claimed that the paracapillary circulation has no influence on the exchange of crystalloids between the interstitial tissue and the circulating blood. They injected solutions containing $^{131}I^-$ and $^{24}Na^+$ subcutaneously into the hands of humans, and measured the radioactive clearance from the

surface of the skin. The addition of 12.5% human albumin to the injected solutions did not alter the absorption rate, as indicated by the lack of significant difference in the rate of tissue clearance. However, there may have been a difference that could not be demonstrated with the rather crude method of measuring radioactivity over the skin of the injection zone. Therefore, more significance may be attached to the results of Madison and Christian (90) who found that the absorption of subcutaneously injected ²⁴NaCl was delayed by the addition of high concentrations of glucose to the injected solution. These experiments were performed on rats, and absorption was evaluated by analyzing the concentrations of ²⁴NaCl in blood sampled by cardiac puncture. Using this method, the variations from a varying filter effect of the tissue are eliminated; therefore, the results are more reliable (85).

In accordance with these results, a pronounced reduction in the absorption of subcutaneously injected sodium sulphacetamide was found when histamine was added to the injection solutions (116, 117). Histamine injected into the subcutaneous tissue produces edema, in the course of which outward filtration must exceed inward filtration. These experiments therefore indicate that a solvent drag (*i.e.*, a pronounced net flow of filtration) influences the absorption. Experimental evidence is given for the belief that filtration influences the absorption of drugs to some degree, when there is an inwardly or outwardly directed net flow for the paracapillary circulation. If inward and outward filtration are equivalent, however, the rate of the paracapillary circulation will be without influence on the absorption rate.

When the paracapillary circulation is in equilibrium, only diffusion will be of significance for absorption. We have no knowledge or experimental evidence that active transport influences subcutaneous absorption. The factors that determine the absorption rate are therefore the factors that influence diffusion. Among these the total area of the absorbing capillary membrane should be mentioned first. In addition, absorption is proportional to the diffusion coefficient, the gradient of concentration, and the distance of diffusion (thickness of the capillary membrane). If the vessels in the absorption zone remain unchanged, the absorption rate is enhanced when the flow of blood is increased, because the concentration of the absorbed drug is lowered in the blood of the absorbing capillaries, which leads to a higher concentration gradient.

The number of active capillaries in the absorption zone is of importance for the total absorbing surface. It should be stressed, however, that the total flow of blood through the absorption zone is not a direct measure of the capillary flow, and the capillary flow is the only thing of interest regarding absorption. The condition of the arteriovenous shunts must be taken into consideration, because they are able to shunt significant percentages of the total flow from the arteries to the veins (110) without passing the only vessels of significance for absorption, *i.e.*, the capillaries.

B. The absorbing membrane

The absorbing membrane in subcutaneous connective tissue is the capillary wall. A general quantitative description of drug absorption through this membrane has not yet been given, at least not a description based on experimental data. Although qualitative and quantitative investigations concerning the exchange of substances between the blood and the interstitial fluid have appeared in recent years, experiments on capillaries in subcutaneous tissue have not been carried out specifically. However, from information obtained on the passage of substances through capillaries in certain specific tissues and through capillaries in general, assumption may be drawn concerning subcutaneous absorption.

Teorell in 1937 developed a mathematical theory to describe the kinetics of distribution of substances injected into the body (141, 142). He confined his investigations to cases where the electrical forces are weak, or to cases concerned with the administration of non-electrolytes. The amount of a drug that permeates a certain tissue boundary was assumed to depend on Fick's law for unidimensional molecular diffusion:

$$-d\mathbf{N} = \mathbf{D} \times \frac{dc}{dx} \times \mathbf{A} \times dt, \tag{1}$$

where -dN = amount, D = diffusion coefficient, dc/dx = concentrationgradient, A = surface, dt = time. The equation for the rate of passage from a depot (for example, following subcutaneous injection) to the blood was given the form:

$$-\left(\frac{dN}{dt}\right)_{D-B} = k_1' \left(\frac{x}{V_1} - \frac{y}{V_2}\right), \qquad (2)$$

where x = amount in depot, $V_1 =$ volume of depot, y = amount in blood, $V_2 =$ volume of blood. k_1' is a "permeability coefficient" in which is included the effective permeation surface, the boundary thickness, and the diffusion coefficient for the injected drug. With the assumption that $\frac{y}{V_2}$ can be neglected, equation 2 expresses the rate of absorption as proportional to the depot concentration:

$$-\left(\frac{dN}{dt}\right)_{D-B} = \frac{k_1'}{V_1} \times x = k_1 \times x.$$
(3)

As stressed by Kety (79) in his review on the theory of the exchange of inert gas at the lungs and tissues, Teorell did not include the capillary blood flow in his equation, and offered no explanation for this exclusion. The decrease in the rate of absorption caused by epinephrine and the demonstration that the tissue clearance of intramuscularly injected ²⁴NaCl is dependent on the perfusion of an extremity clearly demonstrate that capillary perfusion is a limiting factor for absorption in many circumstances (78). For the clearance process, Kety gave the following equation:

$$\frac{dQ}{dt} = -Q\left(\frac{mF_{v}}{s} + \frac{nF_{L}}{s}\right),$$
(4)

where $Q = \text{total content of } {}^{24}\text{NaCl in the unit mass of tissue, } F_v = \text{venous out-flow per minute, } F_L = \text{lymphatic outflow per minute. } m \text{ and } n \text{ are constants}$

between 0 and 1 expressing the extent to which capillary blood and lymph come to equilibrium with the tissue concentration of 24 NaCl.

While it was assumed earlier that filtration was of major importance for the exchange of substances between blood and interstitial fluid, it now seems a fact that most substances pass the capillary membrane by diffusion. Thus, Kruhøffer showed in 1946 that inulin leaves the circulation more slowly than sucrose, the respective rates being approximately proportional to the aqueous diffusion coefficients of the two substances (80).

Pappenheimer *et al.* (99) developed a method for studying quantitatively the permeability of capillaries to lipid-insoluble molecules. Their results were obtained from experiments on perfused hindlegs of cats and dogs. This method was used earlier for evaluating the filtration permeability (100). The results from these and later investigations with the same and similar preparations (105, 106, 107) have recently been reviewed by Renkin and Pappenheimer (108). In these experiments most of the perfusion passes through muscle capillaries. However, part of the total perfusion passes capillaries in other tissues, *i.e.*, subcutaneous tissue, skin, and bones. The explanation given by these authors about the passage of substances through capillary walls will be summarized briefly.

The transcapillary diffusion coefficient for lipid-soluble agents is related to their oil-water partition coefficients. The diffusion rate of such substances is much faster per unit concentration difference than that of lipid-insoluble molecules of comparable size. Lipid-soluble molecules are believed to diffuse through all of the capillary wall, consisting of the endothelial cells. This type of permeability is comparable to the permeability of cell membranes in general. Renkin and Pappenheimer stated that lipid-insoluble molecules, as well as water and electrolytes, diffuse through pores penetrating the capillary wall, and that the surface available for diffusion of these compounds amounts to less than 0.1 % of the total capillary wall. The quantitative data obtained on the isolated hindlimb may be explained by the assumption of 1 to 2×10^9 pores of a mean radius of about 30 Å per cm² capillary wall. Net volume flow through the pores is caused by hydrodynamic processes. However, filtration and absorption due to hydrodynamic flow is slow compared to plasma flow. The exchange of smaller molecules between blood and interstitial fluid is mainly due to diffusion.

The authors observed that the passage of even small molecules was not as rapid as would be expected from free diffusion. To explain the decrease in apparent pore area as a function of increasing molecular size, a concept of "restricted diffusion" was introduced. The restriction to diffusion is pronounced for larger lipid-insoluble molecules. Therefore a concentration gradient will exist through the capillary wall. In this case the passage of molecules through the membrane will be influenced to a high degree by filtration. With abnormally high rates of filtration, the passage of even such small molecules as urea and of Na and Cl ions may theoretically be influenced by filtration.

Chinard *et al.* have used another method for elucidating the mechanism of transcapillary exchange of water and soluble substances (20). Blood is sampled continuously from a vein from an organ or extremity immediately after in-

stantaneous injection of a test substance into the artery of the organ. A nondiffusible reference substance (commonly, Evans Blue, T-1824) is dissolved in the injection solution. This method allows measurement of the loss of a test substance simultaneously with the dilution of the substance in the blood. A similar method has been used by Freis *et al.* (48) and by Crone (24). The latter author attempted a quantitative description of the passage of non-electrolytes through the walls of capillaries in the brain. Chinard *et al.* concluded that the passage of water and of other substances across the capillary wall occurs by a mechanism of diffusion.

Qualitatively, the permeability of capillary walls in subcutaneous tissue hardly differs from that of muscular capillaries. It is therefore possible to draw an analogy from the above mentioned findings to subcutaneous absorption. Accordingly, the rate of absorption for lipid-soluble substances is believed to depend on their oil-water partition coefficients, whereas lipid-insoluble substances are absorbed at a rate depending on their diffusion rates in aqueous solution. The rate of filtration is believed to influence the rate of absorption to some degree. This should always apply to large lipid-insoluble molecules. A pronounced net flow of filtration, a solvent drag, would be expected to influence the absorption rate of most lipid-insoluble substances, even those of small molecular size.

C. Connective tissue ground substance

Subcutaneous injections are given into connective tissue. The condition of this "organ" influences to what extent injected solutions are exposed to capillary membranes for absorption. The connective tissue may be altered by systemic factors or by locally acting stimuli. This may influence the rate of subcutaneous absorption.

The injection of fluids into subcutaneous connective tissue requires a certain pressure, the injection pressure (92). The tissue exerts an elastic resistance to injection, as can be studied by infusion experiments. The resistance is suddenly reduced at a critical initial pressure, after which the infused volume per second increases proportionally to a rising injection pressure. The initial pressure at which infusion starts is about 30 to 40 mm water. It is comparable to the breaking point as demonstrated in dermal connective tissue (87, 88, 89).

Only one experimental investigation has been made to elucidate whether the pressure used when giving subcutaneous injections influences the rate of absorption. Barke (6) showed that the absorption of glucose is reduced when injected subcutaneously using injection pressures amounting to 1 to 2 atmospheres. The author explained the phenomenon as the result of traumatic ischaemia, without mentioning anything about possible haemorrhages into the tissue. This will be discussed later.

The cause of the elastic resistance to injection below a critical pressure is in the structure of the connective tissue. A theory about the construction of the subcutaneous connective tissue has been given by Day (35), which is based on a series of experiments (28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34). The connective tissue includes cells, fibrils, and interstitial substance. Day considered it constructed as a net-

work woven by fibrils, in the interstices of which a finer network is formed by long chains of protein molecules. Finally, the interstices are filled by hyaluronic acid, swollen in the interstitial fluid. This view may agree with investigations using electronic microscopy (50). The elastic resistance to injections may be produced by the swollen hyaluronic acid and the network of protein molecules. However, an explanation of the critical breaking point and the proportionality of infusion to pressure cannot be given.

The clear demonstration of the importance of connective tissue ground substance for absorption is given by the effect of hyaluronidase on the absorption rate. In 1947 it was shown that the addition of hyaluronidase to saline solutions infused subcutaneously under constant pressure increased the rate of infusion to a high degree (55, 56). This has been reproduced by many later workers in different areas of connective tissue (1, 17, 18, 25, 26, 51, 123). The most consistent action quantitatively is found when the pressure is measured under constant rate of infusion (81).

The increase in the rate of infusion with constant pressure could be due to local spreading, and does not directly demonstrate increased absorption. However, many investigators have shown that the absorption of drugs and other chemicals from injected solutions is increased by the action of hyaluronidase. Only a limited number of such investigations will be mentioned here (4, 46, 71, 130).

The final explanation of the absorption-promoting action of hyaluronidase is still unknown. It may be explained solely by the increased permeability and reduced hydrophilic capacity of the connective tissue, which causes the injected drug solutions to spread over a larger tissue area. Such an expansion of the zone of absorption includes a greater number of capillaries, and accordingly a larger total capillary membrane area takes part in the absorption, which consequently is accelerated. There are no signs to indicate a solvent drag directed against the capillaries during the action of hyaluronidase. When hyaluronidase in small volumes of fluid is injected into connective tissue, the content of water is unaltered. Therefore, the balance of the paracapillary circulation remains in equilibrium. Several authors have stated that there is a capillary permeabilityincreasing action of hyaluronidase. However, their experimental results may be explained by impurities in the hyaluronidase preparations, such as histamine or other permeability factors. A more thorough discussion of this problem will be given later. Another question is whether an increased permeability of capillaries, in the sense of permeability to larger sized molecules, would result in an enhanced absorption of subcutaneously injected water-soluble molecules. Logically, one would expect an extravasation of molecules and fluid from the circulating blood into the interstitial tissues, resulting in tissue edema, as found during the local action of histamine and other permeability factors. However, histamine delays absorption (116, 117).

While the promoting action of hyaluronidase on the subcutaneous absorption of drugs, known and used for fourteen years, is highly significant the theoretical explanation of the mechanism is still in doubt. Likewise, the effects of other connective tissue factors on subcutaneous absorption are in doubt. Estrogenic hormones in pharmacological doses reduce the permeability of the connective tissue, resulting in reduced spreading of fluid. Sprunt *et al.* (135) showed that the spread of India ink was reduced in rabbits treated with estrogenes. This has been reproduced by several authors, both *in vivo* (83) and in recently killed mice (27). Also, during pregnancy, which is followed by a physiological rise in the concentration of estrogenic hormones, a reduced spreading reaction has been demonstrated (36, 102, 134).

It would be natural to suppose that the reduced spreading of fluid in the interstitial tissue produced by estrogenic hormones would cause delayed subcutaneous absorption. Only a few experiments have explored this problem, and their results conflict. This may partly be due to the varied reactions of connective tissue to estrogenes in different species of experimental animals. An additional explanation may be the varied effect of the alterations in the connective tissue provoked by estrogenes on the absorption of different drugs and test substances. Hvidberg and Schou (71) found that the absorption of the non-electrolyte urethane was delayed in mice treated with estrogenic hormones. In these mice a pronounced rise in the amount of hexosamine in the skin and subcutaneous tissue has been demonstrated following estrogenic treatment (114). However, the absorption of sodium sulphacetamide from subcutaneous tissue in rats was found to be unaltered following treatment with estrogenic hormones; in this species, the concentration of hexosamine was unaltered after the hormonal treatment. As far as we know, these are the only investigations on the influence of estrogenes on absorption from subcutaneous tissue. In other localities of connective tissue conflicting results have been found. Ploman (102, 103) found an accelerated tissue clearance of intradermally injected uranin in pregnant women and rabbits. Jacox et al. (74) found a more rapid absorption of ²⁴NaCl injected intraarticularly in the knee in women as compared to men. Seifter et al. (129) showed that the absorption of phenolsulphonephthalein injected intraarticularly in rabbits was reduced following treatment with estrogenic hormones. As mentioned earlier, these results are not comparable because of the different species, the varying sites of connective tissue, and finally because of the different test substances and methods used in the investigations.

The absorption of urethane has been examined in mice in which the amount of connective tissue ground substance and the concentration of water had been altered by fasting and dehydrating the animals (69, 72). In both fasted and dehydrated mice, an accelerated absorption was demonstrated. When hyaluronidase was added to the injected solution of urethane, the difference between the experimental groups and controls was eliminated. In both fasted and dehydrated mice the amount of hexosamine in the subcutaneous connective tissue was reduced to the same degree (about 7%). While the water content in the fasted series was reduced about 12%, dehydration caused a much more pronounced reduction (33%). From these results the authors concluded that the concentration of water in the connective tissue is of little importance for the rate of subcutaneous absorption of a non-electrolyte such as urethane. The en-

hanced absorption in fasted and dehydrated mice was more probably produced by the above alterations in the amount of connective tissue ground substance. This corresponds well with the delayed absorption of urethane in estrogen-treated mice, in which the amount of hexosamine was increased while the water content was practically unaltered.

To judge from the foregoing investigations, the actual water balance and swelling capacity of the connective tissue seem to have no direct influence on the rate of subcutaneous absorption. However, an increased permeability of the connective tissue caused by hyaluronidase enhances the absorption rate of all dissolved substances. Especially for urethane, it has been shown that an increase in connective tissue ground substance is followed by a delayed absorption, while absorption is enhanced when the amount of hexosamine is reduced. We do not know if this is a general rule for the absorption of all dissolved substances, or if there are variations due to the physicochemical properties of the injected solutions. The water content of the connective tissue seems without influence on the rate of the subcutaneous absorption.

D. Self-depression of subcutaneous absorption

Self-depression of the subcutaneous absorption of drugs is the delay caused by endogenously liberated compounds, such as histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine. Suggestive of this is the demonstration that the local addition of the antihistaminic agent, mepyramine maleate, and of 2-bromo-*d*-lysergic acid diethylamide (BOL 148), the antagonist to 5-hydroxytryptamine, to subcutaneously injected solutions of morphine greatly enhance its absorption (93, 95, 116, 117). It must be pointed out that self-depression has been demonstrated only in rats. We do not know if the phenomenon is found in other species. Because of its theoretical interest, a more thorough discussion of self-depression will be given.

Self-depression was first demonstrated for the absorption of sodium sulphacetamide, given in a nearly isotonic solution of physiologic pH. In addition to the accelerating effect of locally added mepyramine, an enhanced absorption was also found in rats depleted of their releasable histamine by treatment with compound 48/80. The local addition of histamine, on the other hand, depressed absorption. The theory was advanced that subcutaneous absorption is self-depressing, owing to histamine liberated by the injection-trauma and by the injection of a non-physiological fluid which acts as a foreign body (116, 117).

Since absorption was unaltered when BOL 148 was added to the solution of sulphacetamide, the author concluded that 5-hydroxytryptamine did not influence the absorption of sulphacetamide sodium. An even more pronounced enhancement of the rate of absorption was demonstrated when morphine was injected. The concentration of morphine in the blood was more than doubled when mepyramine was added locally or given systemically in histamine-blocking doses (95). This very pronounced self-depression of the morphine absorption can be explained by the potent histamine liberation caused by the drug itself.

With respect to the subcutaneous absorption of morphine, Milthers (93) has succeeded in showing that self-depression is not caused by histamine alone, but also greatly by 5-hydroxytryptamine. Both depletion of tissue 5-hydroxytryptamine by systemically administered reserpine, and addition of BOL 148 locally in the solution of subcutaneously injected morphine enhanced the absorption to a very high degree. When 5-hydroxytryptamine was added, absorption was again delayed, returning to normal values.

In the same paper the author employed self-depression to explain the commonly known difference in morphine toxicity in very young and fully grown animals. The skin of young individuals contains much less histamine and releasable 5-hydroxytryptamine than does the skin of adults (54). In 12-day old rats the absorption of morphine injected subcutaneously on a weight-basis was much faster than in fully grown rats. Ten minutes after injection the concentration of morphine in the blood was almost six times higher than in fully grown rats. The local administration of mepyramine, BOL 148, histamine, or 5-hydroxytryptamine did not alter the absorption rate in the 12-day old rats. The explanation given for the high toxicity of morphine given subcutaneously to young rats was an enhanced absorption due to the total lack of self-depression. Not only is there lack of histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine in the young individuals, but also the vessels of young rats do not react to histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine as do those of fully grown rats. In a later study, Milthers (94) even showed that morphine infused intravenously is more toxic to fully grown rats than to very young rats. This further confirms the importance of the difference in absorption for the toxicity of morphine given subcutaneously to young and fully grown rats.

The above description of the absorption of morphine in rats at different ages is an example of the practical value of self-depression for the explanation of wellknown biological phenomena. Unpublished investigations have shown that the more pronounced absorption from concentrated solutions than from dilute solutions containing the same dose of test substances (62, 122, 144) may be explained partially by a quantitatively higher self-depression when the dose is given in a larger volume. The differences in the rates of absorption from solutions of different concentrations are reduced when experiments are done on histaminedepleted animals.

Delay of the absorption caused by liberated histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine may also explain the depression of subcutaneous absorption when injections are given using high injection pressures (6), or when injections are given following local heating of the absorption zone (7, 47, 49, 85, 86). Also, the enhanced absorption when repeated injections are given in the same zone may be another example. The first injection may produce a local depletion of the releasable histamine due to non-specific histamine liberation (16, 45, 76); the selfdepression will therefore be reduced when later injections are given.

Further variations in self-depression, due to differences in the concentration of histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine among areas of subcutaneous tissue, may explain the differences in absorption rate found in these areas (27). The condition of the connective tissue ground substance may, however, also influence the rate of absorption.

To date a final explanation of the delay of subcutaneous absorption produced

by histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine cannot be given. The true capillaries are the only important part of the vascular system concerned with absorption from subcutaneous tissue. Our knowledge about the flow through true capillaries during inflammation, and about the mode of action of histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine is insufficient. Although there is a dilatation of capillaries during inflammation this cannot be taken as a sign of enhanced flow. As early as 1877 Cohnheim (21) observed capillary stasis in experimental inflammation. Many authors have observed dilatation of capillaries simultaneously with a reduction of the total flow of blood through the vascular system during the action of histamine. Hilton and Holton (61) showed this in an isolated rabbit ear, just as Tripod and Wirz (143) demonstrated it in an isolated rabbit hindlimb preparation.

The total flow of blood from an artery to a vein in a certain area of the peripheral circulation cannot be taken as a definite measure of the capillary blood flow. We must know also the distribution of the total flow between the true capillaries and the arteriovenous shunts, and eventually other arteriovenous connections which do not affect absorption. Experiments by Hürlimann and Bucher (66) showed that histamine may alter the distribution of the blood flow between the true capillaries and arteriovenous shunts. In their experiments they used rabbit ears, adding lycopodium to the perfusion fluid (65). The spores having a diameter of about 30 μ occluded the true capillaries, but passed through the arteriovenous shunts, leaving them open for circulation ("anastomose ears"). When the action of histamine in different concentrations was examined at constant perfusion pressure in intact ears and "anastomose ears," it was found that low concentrations enhanced the flow, while higher concentrations reduced the flow. An interval of concentration existed where the capillary flow was reduced while the flow through the arteriovenous shunts was enhanced because of dilatation (65, 66). This concentration is comparable to that which is reached in the tissues following endogenous liberation of histamine. When the flow through the true capillaries is reduced, a delayed absorption follows irrespective of the total surface of the capillary membrane. The action of histamine on the permeability of the capillary wall and the effect on the paracapillary circulation may add to the histamine-induced depression of subcutaneous absorption. Histamine provokes the formation of tissue edema. During the production of edema, the resultant of the paracapillary circulation is directed from the capillaries outwards to the interstitial tissue producing a solvent drag, which further reduces absorption, even if the absorption is due only to diffusion.

The action of 5-hydroxytryptamine on the terminal circulation is also imperfectly understood. Further consideration is not warranted because the effect of liberated 5-hydroxytryptamine may be compared to the action of liberated histamine.

Subcutaneous injection of any fluid not physiologic with respect to ion-composition and pH, the trauma of the needle, and injection pressure all provoke a non-specific inflammation, as stressed by Bárány in 1932 (5). We know that histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine are active when the early inflammatory exudate is produced (132, 133). This liberated histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine, the amounts of which vary with the histamine- and 5-hydroxytryptamineliberating properties of the injected drug, produce a depression of subcutaneous absorption by an action on the terminal vascular bed. This self-depression may be reduced, thereby enhancing absorption, when histamine- or 5-hydroxytryptamine-blocking agents are added to the solutions injected, or when the releasable amounts of these compounds in the peripheral tissues are reduced after systemic treatment with histamine or 5-hydroxytryptamine liberators.

V. DRUGS INFLUENCING THE RATE OF SUBCUTANEOUS ABSORPTION

Various drugs and hormones given systemically or locally in the injected fluid in pharmacological doses can alter the absorption rate of subcutaneously injected drugs. The point of attack of such substances may be the connective tissue ground substance, the peripheral circulation in the zone of absorption, or the self-depression mechanism. Examples can be given of the different modes of action.

A. Epinephrine

Epinephrine was the first drug known to influence the rate of absorption of other drugs given subcutaneously. In 1903, Braun added epinephrine to subcutaneously injected solutions of carmine and cocaine (13, 14). The rate of absorption was determined both by the clearance of the coloured carmine from the local depot, and from the toxicity of the absorbed cocaine. Using other methods the effect of epinephrine on subcutaneous absorption was investigated by Okuneff (97) and Falck and Lange (44). The mechanism of the absorptiondelaying effect of epinephrine is obvious, because the drug constricts the terminal vascular bed in the zone of absorption, constricting arteries, arterioles, capillaries, and possibly venules. Therefore, the flow of blood through the absorbing area, and especially the capillary flow, is depressed significantly, giving a reduced absorption. There is little destruction of epinephrine in the local area, which causes a prolonged effect of the drug locally (82). The practical value of epinephrine in connection with the administration of local anaesthetics need only be mentioned.

B. Hyaluronidase

The promoting effect of locally given hyaluronidase on subcutaneous absorption has already been mentioned in section IV, C. Hyaluronidase depolymerizes the hyaluronic acid of the connective tissue ground substance, which is followed by a reduced hydrophilic capacity, giving a more fluid ground substance and an increased permeability. Therefore, fluids injected together with hyaluronidase spread through a larger area of connective tissue and, accordingly, a greater number of capillaries and a larger total area of capillary membrane is exposed to the injected solution, giving an enhanced absorption.

It is still debatable whether hyaluronidase increases the permeability of capillaries. Duran-Reynals (38) showed that the extravasation of Evans Blue from the blood was accelerated by addition of a crude extract from testes. Aylward

(3) made the same observation, but it could not be reproduced by Rocha e Silva and Dragstedt (109) or Zweifach and Chambers (147). Too much weight cannot be attached to these experiments because crude preparations of hyaluronidase were employed. If Evans Blue is injected intravenously together with hyaluronidase, an increased rate of disappearance of the dye, followed by an increase in the concentration of serum-proteins and in hematocrit values, is noted (57, 58). Later Benditt *et al.* (10) denied that hyaluronidase increases the permeability of capillaries, because they found a decrease in the permeability-inducing action with increase in the purity of the preparations of hyaluronidase employed for the experiments. Possibly the concentration of hyaluronidase may be of significance for the results of such experiments because of the hyaluronidase-inhibiting capacity of serum, stressed by Hübner *et al.* (64). The edema produced when hyaluronidase is injected subcutaneously also points to a capillary permeabilityincreasing action (41, 75).

However, preparations containing hyaluronidase are still not chemically well defined. When preparations are able to produce increased capillary permeability, impurities containing capillary permeability factors, for example histamine. may be the cause. Braun and Weber (15) found edema production due to hyaluronidase in an isolated perfused hindlimb preparation. Simultaneously, however, the flow increased, even though the infusion pressure was held constant. This indicated that vasodilatation occurred in the preparation. This cannot be produced by hyaluronidase, but must have been caused by vasodilators, such as histamine. This applies also to the experiments by Szabo and Magyar (140), who demonstrated an increased flow in the thoracic duct simultaneously with a fall in hematocrit values. They explained this by an increased "shunting" of fluid from the blood through the extra-vascular tissues to the lymph, produced by a capillary permeability-increasing action of hyaluronidase. This may be produced by impurities, such as capillary permeability factors, because exactly the same experimental result was found earlier by the same authors when histamine was used (139). Spector (131) in his review also questioned the effect of hyaluronidase on the permeability of capillaries.

In conclusion, if hyaluronidase has a permeability-increasing action, as does histamine, it should cause a decrease in the rate of absorption. Therefore, it would antagonize the absorption-promoting effect of hyaluronidase produced by its permeability-increasing action on the ground substance of the connective tissue.

C. Estrogenic hormones

This subject has already been discussed in section IV, C. Systemic treatment with estrogenic hormones reduces the permeability of the connective tissue in certain species and localities, probably by increasing the hyaluronic acid content of the ground substance. This is followed by a slight, variable absorption-depressing effect. When estrogenic hormones decrease permeability of the connective tissue ground substance, then the absorption of non-electrolytes is depressed. It is not known whether the absorption of electrolytes is also depressed.

SUBCUTANEOUS ABSORPTION

D. Adrenal glucocorticoids

Systemic treatment with cortisone and prednisone is followed by an increase in the rate of subcutaneous absorption. Again we must make the reservation that experimental demonstration has been limited to certain test substances and species of experimental animals. The first observation was made by using ure than e as a toxicity test on mice (23). The time from the subcutaneous injection until loss of the righting reflex was taken as a measure of the rate of absorption. However, delay in this time following treatment with corticosteroids could be caused by a delayed elimination of urethane, or by an increased sensitivity to the narcotic action, provoked by cortisone. In experiments on rabbits, Schou (115), using cross-over absorption experiments, showed that subcutaneous absorption as evaluated by the blood concentration of the test substance was markedly increased following systemic treatment with cortisone. The results were reproduced in doubly nephrectomized rabbits (118) in order to exclude a possible effect of cortisone on elimination, that could simulate an enhanced absorption. Further, it was shown that cortisone treatment did not affect the concentration of sulphacetamide when this substance was infused intravenously at a constant rate (121); hence, the sulphacetamide space is unaltered during cortisone treatment. The absorption-promoting effect was reproduced with a water-soluble hydrocortisone compound given intravenously (120). Desoxycortisone has no influence on subcutaneous absorption (119).

A final explanation of the enhancing effect of cortisone and adrenal glucocorticoids on subcutaneous absorption cannot be given at present. The mechanism may be closely related to the anti-inflammatory and anti-edematous effect of adrenal glucocorticoids. During the anti-edematous effect there is not only a reduced production of inflammatory edema fluid, but also an acceleration of its reabsorption (23). Therefore, a solvent drag from the interstitial fluid to the circulating blood may exist during the action of cortisone when an artificial edema is produced by the injection of a drug solution into the subcutaneous tissue. This solvent drag may produce an enhanced absorption of dissolved molecules.

Furthermore, self-depression of subcutaneous absorption may be reduced after prolonged treatment with cortisone, which will also accelerate subcutaneous absorption. The synthesis of histamine is reduced in cortisone-treated animals (53, 112). Therefore, the rise in the content of histamine in the tissues following histamine depletion is delayed (52). It is only the synthesis and binding of histamine in the peripheral tissues that is reduced, while the spontaneous turnover is unaltered (111). Prolonged cortisone-treatment reduces the histamine content as well as the concentration of 5-hydroxytryptamine in the skin and subcutaneous tissue of experimental animals (59, 113). Desoxycortisone is without effect. Because of the reduction in the amount of releasable histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine after prolonged treatment with cortisone, self-depression is reduced, giving an enhanced absorption. This explains also the more pronounced absorption enhancing effect of cortisone in cross-over experiments, because cortisone inhibits the replacement of the histamine liberated and elim-

inated during the first absorption control experiment (115). Possibly the sensitivity of the peripheral vessels to histamine is also reduced following cortisone treatment. This may further increase the absorption-enhancing effect of cortisone.

E. Antihistaminic agents

In section IV, D it was mentioned that blocking the vascular response to liberated histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine by giving antihistaminic agents or 5-hydroxytryptamine-blocking agents locally or systemically may enhance subcutaneous absorption by decreasing the self-depression of absorption. A similar enhancement of absorption due to a reduced self-depression is seen in animals depleted of their releasable histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine by treatment with liberators.

F. Diuretics

When edema is reduced by the action of a diuretic, the resultant net flow of the paracapillary circulation must be inwardly directed, giving an accelerated reabsorption of solutes in the edema fluid. It is questionable whether diuretics enhance the absorption from normally hydrated connective tissue. Engel and Epstein (42) described an accelerated disappearance of wheals during the action of diuretics. However, as mentioned in section III, wheal disappearance does not define absorption. In an investigation of the absorption of urethane from subcutaneous tissue in normally hydrated mice exposed to mersalyl treatment, Hvidberg *et al.* (70) found no effect on the absorption rate. Therefore diuretics probably do not affect subcutaneous absorption of drugs from normally hydrated animals.

VI. CONCLUSION

Our knowledge about connective tissue and characteristics of the ground substance has been greatly extended in recent years. However, our understanding of the subcutaneous absorption of drugs has not been significantly increased. The barrier to absorption is the capillary membrane. In addition to the qualities of this membrane, factors on both sides of the membrane influence the rate of absorption. The capillary blood flow is of major significance. This is not equivalent to the total blood flow through a part of the terminal vascular bed, because blood may be shunted from arteries to veins without passing through the true capillaries, the only vessels in which absorption occurs. There are no methods to determine to what extent the total blood flow passes through true capillaries. Until this problem is solved, we shall not be able to explain the mechanism of subcutaneous absorption.

REFERENCES

- 1. ALWALL, N.: Hyaluronidase in subcutaneous infusions. Nord. med. 43: 600-601, 1950.
- 2. ASHER, L.: Ein Beitrag zur Resorption durch die Blutgefässe. Z. Biol. 29: 247-255, 1892

AYLWARD, F. X.: Physiological properties of Reynals testicular diffusion factor. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 49: 342-346, 1942.

BAEDER, D. H., GLASSMAN, J. M., HUDYMA, G. M. AND SEIFTER, J.: Effect of hyaluronidase and partially depolymerized hyaluronate on threshold doses of drugs. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 89: 645-647, 1955.

- BÁRÁNY, R.: Untersuchungen über die durch subkutane und intramuskuläre Einspritzungen hervorgerufene aseptische Entzündung, Veränderungen der entzündlichen Reaktion durch wiederholte Einwirkung auf dieselbe Stelle und die Bedeutung dieser Untersuchungen für Physiologie und Pathologie. Dtsch. med. Wschr. 58: 1560-1562, 1932.
- BARKE, A.: Der Einfluss des hydrostatischen Druckes auf die Resorption aus der Subkutis. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 202: 194-200, 1943.
- 7. BARKER, A. N. AND CAMPBELL, J. A.: Effect of posture on clearance of sodium 24 from subcutaneous tissue of leg. Minerva Cardioangiol. 3: 98-101, 1955.
- BARBON, J. N., VEALL, N. AND ABNOTT, D. G.: Measurement of local clearance of radioactive sodium in tubed skin pedicles. Brit. J. plast. Surg. 4: 16-27, 1951.
- BELL, BENJAMIN: The therapeutic relations of opium and belladonna to each other. Edinb. med. J. 4: 1-7, 1858-59.
 BENDITT, E. P., SCHILLER, S., MATHEWS, M. B. AND DORFMAN, A.: Evidence that hyaluronidase is not the factor in testicular extract causing increased vascular permeability. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 77: 643-646, 1951.
- 11. BIANCHI, C.: Experimental observations on a test for synovial permeability. Brit. J. Pharmacol. 8: 130-133, 1953.
- BIANCHI, C.: Further studies on compounds reducing synovial membrane permeability. Brit. J. Pharmacol. 9: 166-169, 1954.
- BRAUN, H.: Über den Einfluss der Vitalität der Gewebe auf die örtlichen und allgemeinen Giftwirkungen localanästhesirender Mittel und über die Bedeutung des Adrenalins für die Localanästhesie. Arch. klin. Chir. 69: 541-591, 1903.
- 14. BRAUN, H.: Die Lokalanästhesie, ihre wissenschaftlichen Grundlagen und praktischen Anwendung. J. A. Barth, Leipzig, 1905.
- BRAUN, O. AND WEBER, G.: Über den vasotropen Effekt der Hyaluronidase und ihren Einfluss auf die Gefässpermeabilität. Klin. Wschr. 29: 504-506, 1951.
- 16. BRAUN-FALCO, O.: Morphologische und pharmacologische Untersuchungen zur Frage der Histaminabgabe durch Mastzellen. Gleichzeitig ein Beitrag zum Pathomechanismus der Erektilität der Efflorescenzen bei Urticaria pigmentosa. Arch. Dermat. Syphil., Wien 199: 197-211, 1955.
- 17. BURKET, L. C. AND GYÖRGY, P.: Clinical observations on use of hyaluronidase. Pediatrics, N. Y. 3: 56-63, 1949.
- BURKET, L. C. AND GYÖRGY, P.: Clinical observations on use of hyaluronidase. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 52: 1171-1179, 1950.
- CHAMBERS, R. AND ZWEIFACH, B.: Intercellular cement and capillary permeability. Physiol. Rev. 27: 436-463, 1947.
- CHINARD, F. P., VOSBURGH, G. J. AND ENNS, T.: Transcapillary exchange of water and of other substances in certain organs of the dog. Amer. J. Physiol. 183: 221-234, 1955.
- 21. COHNHEIM, JULIUS: Vorlesungen über allgemeine Pathologie, vol. 1. August Hirschwald, Berlin, 1877.
- COOPER, D. J. AND SCHMIDT, A.: The effect of sex hormones on the spreading reaction and the reconstitution of the connective-tissue barrier in the mouse. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 13: 155-168, 1957.
- COOPER, D. J., SCHMIDT, A. AND SCHOU, J.: The anti-inflammatory effect of cortisone and salicylates. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 14: 77-91, 1957.
- 24. CRONE, C.: The diffusion of some organic non-electrolytes from blood to brain tissue. Thesis, in Danish; English summary. Einar Munksgaard, ed., Copenhagen, 1961.
- 25. DAUBENMERKL, W.: On the spreading effect of ascorbic acid. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 7: 153-166, 1951.
- 26. DAUBENMERKL, W.: A new spreading factor: dihydroxymaleic acid. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 9: 1-10, 1953.
- DAWSON, W. T. AND HARMS, H. P.: Toxicity of quinine, quinidine, hydroquinidine and hydrocinchonidine in guines pig. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 32: 595-597, 1934-35.
- DAY, T. D.: Nature and significance of cementing substance in interstitial connective tissue. J. Path. Bact. 59: 567-573, 1947.
- 29. DAY, T. D.: Membranous nature of interstitial connective tissue. Lancet 2: 945, 1947.
- 30. DAY, T. D.: Connective tissue cementing substance. Nature, Lond. 159: 100-101, 1947.
- DAY, T. D.: Influence of hydrogen ions and neutral salts upon hydration of interstitial connective tissue. Nature, Lond. 162: 152-153, 1948.
- 32. DAY, T. D.: Spread of fluids in connective tissue. J. Path. Bact. 60: 150-151, 1948.
- 33. DAY, T. D.: Mode of reaction of interstitial connective tissue with water. J. Physiol. 109: 380-391, 1949.
- DAY, T. D.: Permeability of interstitial connective tissue and nature of interfibrillary substance. J. Physiol. 117: 1-8, 1982.
 Descent P. Tourse, P. S. and Descent F. Handakin and dialacted during anterscene. Sum Connective Co
- DUCOMMUN, P., TIMIRAS, P. S. AND DORDONI, F.: Hemoglobin spreading test during pregnancy. Surg. Gynec. Obstet. 93: 243-245, 1951.
- DURAN-REYNALS, F.: Content of spreading factor and toxins in organs and poisonous secretions of snakes. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 38: 763-766, 1938.
- DURAN-REYNALS, F.: General permeability-increasing effect of factor from mammalian testicle on blood capillaries. Yale J. Biol. Med. 11: 601-612, 1939.
- DURAN-REYNALS, F.: Spreading factor in certain snake venoms and its relation to their mode of action. J. exp. Med. 69: 69-81, 1939.
- EDLUND, T. AND LINDERHOLM, H.: The effect of salyrgan (mersalyl) on the resistance to movement of fluid through synovial membranes; an increased permeability of this connective tissue. Acta physiol. scand. 21: 250-257, 1950.

- 41. ELSTER, S., FREEMAN, M. AND DORFMAN, A.: Effect of hyaluronidase on the passage of fluid and of T-1824 through the capillary wall. Amer. J. Physiol. 156: 429-432, 1949.
- 42. ENGEL, K. AND EPSTEIN, T.: Die Quecksilberdiurese. Ergebn. inn. Med. Kinderheilk. 40: 187-261, 1931.
- EULENBURG, A.: Die Hypodermatische Injection der Arzneimittel. August Hirschwald, Berlin, 1st ed., 1865; 3rd ed., 1875.
 Berlin, 1st ed., 1875.
- 44. FALCE, J. AND LANGE, E.: Über den Einfluss des Adrenalins auf die Resorption aus dem subcutanen Gewebe. Klin. Wschr. 14: 1209-1211, 1935.
- FAWCETT, D. W.: Experimental study of mast cell degranulation and regeneration. Anat. Rec. 121: 29-51, 1955.
 FORBES, G. B., DEISHER, R. W., PERLEY, A. M. AND HARTMANN, A. F.: Effect of hyaluronidase on subcutaneous absorption of electrolytes in humans. Science 111: 177-179, 1950.
- FRANKE, F. R., BOATMAN, J. R., GEORGE, R. S. AND MOSES, C.: Effect of physical factors on radiosodium clearance from subcutaneous and intramuscular sites in animals. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 74: 417-421, 1950.
- FREIS, E. D., HIGGINS, T. F. AND MOROWITZ, H. J.: Transcapillary exchange rates of deuterium oxide and thiocyanate in the forearm of man. J. appl. Physiol. 5: 526-532, 1952-53.
- FRIEDMAN, M. H.: Local diathermy; influence on kidney secretion and on intramuscular and subcutaneous absorption. J. Amer. med. Ass. 92: 1648-1652, 1929.
- GROSS, J.: Study on certain connective tissue constituents with electron microscope. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 52: 964-970, 1950.
- 51. HALLEN, L. G.: Hyaluronidase in infusions and anaesthesia. Nord. med. 42: 1499-1502, 1949.
- 52. HALPEEN, N. B., BIOZI, G., BRIOT, M. AND BENACERRAF, B.: Modalités de la recharge des tissus en histamine après sa déplétion par une substance libératrice d'histamine et action empéchante de la cortisone sur cette recharge. C. R. Soc. Biol., Paris 147: 1180-1184, 1953.
- HALPERN, N. B. AND BRIOT, M.: Action des hormones cortico-surrénaliennes sur le métabolisme de l'histamine endogène. Rev. françs. étud. clin. biol. 1: 151-163, 1956.
- 54. HARDWICK, D. C.: Age changes in histamine content of rat skin. J. Physiol. 124: 157-165, 1954.
- 55. HECHTER, O.: Studies on spreading factors; importance of mechanical factors in hyaluronidase action in skin. J. exp. Med. 85: 77-97, 1947.
- HECHTER, O., DOPKEEN, S. K. AND YUDELL, M. H.: Clinical use of hyaluronidase in hypodermoolysis. J. Pediat. 30: 645-656. 1947.
- 57. HEINLEIN, H.: Die Bedeutung der Hyaluronidase in der Biologie und Pathologie. Zbl. allg. Path. path. Anat. 85: 339-344, 1949.
- 58. HEINLEIN, H. AND RATHSCHECK, R.: Hyaluronidase und Rheumatismus. Ärztl. Wschr. 7: 385-387, 1952.
- HICKS, R. AND WEST, G. B.: Adrenal cortical hormones and the formation of histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine. Nature, Lond. 181: 1342-1343, 1958.
- HIDALGO, J., MCCLURE, C. D., HENDERSON, J. B., WHITEHEAD, R. W. AND SMYTH, C. J.: Effect on joint permesbility of adrenal cortex extract, ACTH, cortisone hydroxyphenyl cinchoninic acid and hyaluronidase. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 80: 97-101, 1952.
- HILTON, S. M. AND HOLTON, P.: Some observations on vascular responses in the rabbit's ear. J. Physiol. 117: 50, 1952.
- HIMWICH, H. E., GOLDMAN, G. S. AND KROSNICK, M. Y.: Studies on subcutaneous absorption. Amer. J. Physiol. 102: 365-369, 1932.
- HOWARD-JONES, N.: A critical study of the origin and early development of hypodermic medication. J. Hist. Med. 2: 201-249, 1947.
- 64. HÜBNER, K. A., GERSING, R. AND SCHUMACHER, H.: Experimentelle Untersuchungen sur Frage der Hyaluronidasewirkung auf die Kapillarwände. Ärstl. Wechr. 7: 913-916, 1952.
- HÜRLIMANN, A. AND BUCHER, K.: Die Wirkung von Adrenalin auf arterio-venöse Anastomosen verschiedener Kaliber. Helv. physiol. acta 8: 331-341, 1950.
- 66. HÜRLMANN, A. AND BUCHER, K.: Die Wirkung von Histamin und α-Phenylaminopropionamidin auf arteriovenöse Anastomosen. Helv. physiol. acta 10: 295-302, 1952.
- 67. HUNTER, C.: Correspondence. Med. Times & Gas. 1858, p. 457.
- 68. HUNTER, C.: Hypodermic administration of certain medicines. Med. Times & Gaz. 1: 584, 1865.
- HVIDERG, E.: Effects of dehydration and fasting on the water-binding mechanism of connective tissue. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 16: 28-37, 1959.
- HVIDEERG, E., SCHMIDT, A. AND SCHOU, J.: The influence of the mersalyl-theophylline complex on connective tissue. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 14: 367-377, 1958.
- HVIDEERG, E. AND SCHOU, J.: The effect of costradiol monobenzoate on connective tissue, especially on subcutaneous absorption. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 15: 207-216, 1959.
- 72. HVIDEERG, E. AND SCHOU, J.: Subcutaneous absorption of urethane in dehydrated and fasted mice. Nature, Lond. 184: 645-647, 1959.
- HYMAN, C., RAPAPORT, S. I., SAUL, A. M. AND MORTON, M. E.: Independence of capillary filtration and tissue clearance. Amer. J. Physiol. 168: 674-679, 1952.
- 74. JACOX, R. F., JOHNSON, M. K. AND KOONTZ, R.: Transport of radioactive sodium across the synovial membrane of normal human subjects. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 89: 655-657, 1952.
- KELEMEN, E., IVANYI, J. AND MAJOROS, M.: Hyaluronidase limb-edema test on rat (technique for investigations on permeability). Acta med. hung. 2: 201-203, 1951.
 KELLER, R. AND BURKARD, W.: Die Bedeutung der Gewebemastzellen für die Histaminfreisetzung. Helv.
- NELLER, R. AND DURKARD, W.: Die Dedeutung der Gewebemastzehen für die Histaminireisetzung. Heiv. physiol. acta 14: 289-298, 1956.
- KETT, S. S.: Quantitative measurement of regional circulation by the clearance of radioactive sodium. Amer. J. med. Sci. 215: 352-353, 1948.

- KETY, S. S.: Measurement of regional circulation by local clearance of radioactive sodium. Amer. Heart J. 38: 321-328, 1949.
- KETY, S. S.: The theory and applications of the exchange of inert gas at the lungs and tissues. Pharmacol. Rev. 3: 1-41, 1951.
- KRUHØFFER, P.: The significance of diffusion and convection for the distribution of solutes in the interstitial space. Acta physiol. scand. 11: 37-47, 1946.
- 81. LENSTEUP, J.: Hyaluronidase in subcutaneous infusion of fluid. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 7: 143-152, 1951.
- LUCKHARDT, A. B. AND KOPPÁNYI, T.: Studies on the hemodynamic action of subcutaneous injected epinephrin. I. Some conditions under which hypodermically administered epinephrin gives a pressor effect. Amer. J. Physiol. 81: 436-452, 1927.
- LURIE, M., ABRAMSON, S., HEPPLESTON, A. AND ALLIBON, M.: Constitutional factors in resistance to infection; on mode of action of cestrogen and gonadotropin on progress of tuberculosis. Amer. Rev. Tuberc. 59: 198-218, 1949.
- MCCLURE, W. B. AND ALDRICH, C. A.: Time required for disappearance of intradermally injected salt solutions. J. Amer. med. Ass. 81: 293-294, 1923.
- MCGIRR, E. M.: Rate of removal of radioactive sodium following its injection into muscle and skin. Clin. Sci. 11: 91-99, 1952.
- 86. McGIRR, E. M.: Tissue clearance of inorganic ions. Brit. med. Bull. 8: 192-197, 1952.
- 87. MCMASTER, P. D.: Intermittent take-up of fluid from cutaneous tissue. J. exp. Med. 73: 67-84, 1941.
- MCMASTER, P. D.: Factors influencing intermittent passage of Locke's solution into living skin. J. exp. Med. 73: 85-108, 1941.
 MCMASTER, P. D.: Inquiry into structural conditions affecting fluid transport in interstitial tissue of skin. J.
- exp. Med. 74: 9-28, 1941.
- MADISON, W. L. AND CHRISTIAN, J. E.: Study on absorption of sodium ions in white rat using radioactive tracer techniques. J. Amer. pharm. Ass., Sci. Ed. 39: 689-692, 1950.
- 91. Medical and Chirurgical Society: Report of the scientific committee appointed to investigate the physiological and therapeutic effects of the hypodermic method of injection. Med. Chirurg. Trans. 32: 561, 1867.
- 92. MEYER, F. AND HOLLAND, G.: Die Messung des Druckes in Geweben. Arch. exp. Path. Pharmak. 168: 581-602, 1932.
- MILTHERS, K.: Contribution of histamine and enteramine (5-hydroxytryptamine) to the self-depression in subcutaneous absorption of morphine by fully grown and unweaned rats. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 16: 144-150, 1959.
- 94. MILTHERS, K.: The toxicity of morphine to fully grown and unweaned rats by constant intravenous infusion. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 17: 200-204, 1960.
- MILTHERS, K. AND SCHOU, J.: Self-depression in the subcutaneous absorption of morphine. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 15: 175-180, 1958.
- 96. MOGEY, G. A.: Centenary of hypodermic injection. Brit. med. J. 2: 1180-1185, 1953.
- 97. OKUNEFF, N.: Studien über parenterale Resorption; über die Resorption des Farbstoffs Trypanblau aus dem subcutanen Bindegewebe. Biochem. Z. 226: 147-156, 1930.
- 98. PAPPENHEIMER, J. R.: Passage of molecules through capillary walls. Physiol. Rev. 33: 387-423, 1953.
- PAPPENHEIMEB, J. R., RENKIN, E. M. AND BORRERO, L. M.: Filtration, diffusion and molecular sieving through peripheral capillary membranes; contribution to pore theory of capillary permeability. Amer. J. Physiol. 167: 13-46, 1951.
- 100. PAPPENHEIMER, J. R. AND SOTO-RIVERA, A.: Effective osmotic pressure of the plasma proteins and other quantities associated with the capillary circulation in the hindlimbs of cats and dogs. Amer. J. Physiol. 152: 471-491, 1948.
- 101. PAUL, W. D., HODGES, R. E., KNOUSE, R. W. AND WRIGHT, C. S.: Effect of anti-rheumatic drugs on synovial membrane permeability. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 79: 68-71, 1952.
- 102. PLOMAN, L.: Skin permeability and pregnancy; study of dermal spread and absorption in rabbits and mice. Acta endocr., Copenhagen 10: 333-356, 1952.
- 103. PLOMAN, L.: Human skin permeability in pregnancy and menstruation; absorption studies by means of photoelectric dermofluorometer and dermal spread determinations. Acta endocr., Copenhagen 13: suppl. 14, 1-25, 1953.
- 104. PRAVAE, C.-G.: Sur un nouveau moyen d'opérer la coagulation du sang dans les artères, applicable à la guérison des anéurismes. C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris 36: 88-90, 1853.
- 105. RENKIN, E. M.: Capillary permeability to lipid-soluble molecules. Amer. J. Physiol. 168: 538-545, 1952.
- 106. RENKIN, E. M.: Effects of blood flow on diffusion kinetics in isolated perfused hindlegs of cats. Amer. J. Physiol. 183: 125-136, 1955.
- RENKIN, E. M.: Capillary and cellular permeability to some compounds related to antipyrine. Amer. J. Physiol. 173: 125-130, 1953.
- 108. RENKIN, E. M. AND PAPPENHEIMER, J. R.: Wasserdurchlässigkeit und Permeabilität der Kapillarwände. Ergebn. Physiol. 49: 59-126, 1957.
- ROCHA E SILVA, M. AND DRAGSTEDT, C. A.: Observations on the trypan blue capillary permeability test in rabbits. J. Pharmacol. 73: 405-411, 1941.
- RONDELL, P. A., KEITZER, W. F. AND BOHR, D. F.: Distribution of flow through capillaries and arteriovenous anastomoses in the rabbit ear. Amer. J. Physiol. 183: 523-528, 1955.
- SCHAYEE, R. W. AND SMILEY, R. L.: Binding and release of radioactive histamine in intact rats. Amer. J. Physiol. 177: 401-404, 1954.
- 112. SCHAYER, R. W., SMILEY, R. L. AND DAVIS, K. J.: Inhibition by cortisone of the binding of new histamine in rat tissues. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 87: 590-592, 1954.

- 113. SCHMIDT, A.: Activity of histamine as spreading factor and the effect of cortisone. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 12: 88-95, 1956.
- 114. SCHMIDT, A.: The influence of cortisone and cestradiol on the amount of hexosamine and water in skin. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 14: 350-358, 1958.
- SCHOU, J.: The influence of cortisone on the subcutaneous absorption of drugs. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 14:251-264, 1958.
- SCHOU, J.: Self-depression of the subcutaneous absorption of drugs due to release of histamine. Nature, Lond. 182: 324, 1958.
- SCHOU, J.: The influence of histamine and histamine liberation on subcutaneous absorption of drugs. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 15: 43-54, 1958.
- 118. SCHOU, J.: The effect of cortisone treatment on the subcutaneous absorption and distribution of sulphacetamide in doubly nephrectomized rabbits. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 15: 217-220, 1959.
- SCHOU, J.: Subcutaneous absorption of sulphacetamide sodium after desoxicortone acetate in pharmacological doses. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 15: 221-223, 1959.
- SCHOU, J.: The effect of a water soluble hydrocortisone compound on subcutaneous absorption. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 15: 224-228, 1959.
- SCHOU, J.: Concentration of sulphacetamide after constant intravenous infusion of untreated and cortisonetreated rabbits. Acta pharm. tox., Kbh. 16: 213-216, 1960.
- 122. SCHRIFTMAN, H. AND KONDRITZER, A. A.: Absorption of atropine from muscle. Amer. J. Physiol. 191: 591-594, 1957.
- 123. SCHWARTZMAN, J., HENDERSON, A. T. AND KING, W. E.: Hyaluronidase in fluid administration; preliminary report. J. Pediat. 33: 267-273, 1948.
- 124. SEIFTER, J.: Studies of pharmacology and toxicology of testicular hyaluronidase. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 52: 1141-1155, 1950.
- 125. SEIFTER, J. AND BAEDER, D. H.: Technical factors influencing permeability of synovial membrane in rabbits. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 87: 276-280, 1954.
- 126. SEIFTER, J., BAEDER, D. H. AND BEGANY, A. J.: Influence of hyaluronidase and steroids on permeability of synovial membrane. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 72: 277-282, 1949.
- 127. SEIFTER, J., BAEDER, D. H., BEGANY, A. J., ROSENKRANZ, G., DJERASSI, C., PATAKI, J. AND KAUFMANN, S.: Method of screening steroids on synovial membrane for possible anti-arthritic action. Fed. Proc. 9: 314, 1950.
- 128. SEIFTER, J., BAEDER, D. H. AND BLUMENTHAL, A.: Technical factors influencing the permeability of synovial membrane. Fed. Proc. 11: 389-390, 1952.
- 129. SEIFTER, J., BAEDER, D. H. AND DERVINIS, A.: Alterations in permeability of some membranes by hyaluronidase and inhibition of this effect by steroids. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 72: 136-141, 1949.
- SEKIJIMA, H. AND FINK, L. D.: Effect of hyaluronidase on toxicity of procaine and tetracaine in mice. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 80: 158-161, 1952.
- 131. SPECTOR, W. G.: Substances which affect capillary permeability. Pharmacol. Rev. 10: 475-505, 1958.
- 132. SPECTOR, W. G. AND WILLOUGHBY, D. A.: 5-Hydroxytryptamine in acute inflammation. Nature, Lond. 179: 318, 1957.
- SPECTOR, W. G. AND WILLOUGHEY, D. A.: Histamine and 5-hydroxytryptamine in acute experimental pleurisy. J. Path. Bact. 74: 57-65, 1957.
- 134. SPRUNT, D. H. AND MCDEARMAN, S.: Studies on relationship of sex hormones to infection; study of dispersion or concentration of India ink in skin by certain sex hormones. Endocrinology 27: 893-898, 1940.
- 135. SPRUNT, D. H., MCDEARMAN, S. AND RAPER, J.: Studies on relationship of sex hormones to infection; effect of oestrogenic and gonadotropic hormones on vaccinia and spreading factor. J. exp. Med. 67: 159-168, 1938.
- 136. STARLING, E. H.: On the absorption of fluids from the connective tissue spaces. J. Physiol. 19: 312-326, 1895.
- 137. STARLING, E. H. AND TUBBY, A. H.: On absorption from and secretion into serous cavities. J. Physiol. 16: 140-155, 1894.
- 138. STONE, P. W. AND MILLER, W. B.: Mobilization of radioactive sodium from gastrocnemius muscle of dog. Proc. Soc. exp. Biol., N. Y. 71: 529-534, 1949.
- SZABO, G. AND MAGYAR, Z.: Wirkung von Histamin auf Kapillarpermeabilität. Acta med. hung. 10: 55-66, 1957.
 SZABO, G. AND MAGYAR, Z.: Effect of hyaluronidase on capillary permeability, lymph flow and passage of dyelabelled protein from plasma to lymph. Nature, Lond. 182: 377-379, 1958.
- 141. TEORELL, T.: Kinetics of distribution of substances administered to the body. I. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 57: 205-225, 1937.
- 142. TEORELL, T.: Kinetics of distribution of substances administered to the body. II. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 57: 226-240, 1937.
- 143. TRIPOD, J. AND WIRZ, E.: Dissociation des effets de l'histamine sur la vaso-constriction et sur la perméabilité vasculaire périphérique. Arch. int. Pharmacodyn. 102: 187-193, 1955.
- 144. WARNER, G. F., DOBSON, E. L., PACE, N., JOHNSTON, M. E. AND FINNEY, C. R.: Studies of human peripheral blood flow: Effect of injection volume on intramuscular radio-sodium clearance rate. Circulation 8: 731-734, 1953.
- 145. WEFF, R.: Über den Resorptionsweg subcutan verabfolgter Substanzen. Schweiz. med. Wschr. 78: 537-539, 1948.
- 146. Woop, A.: New method of treating neuralgia by the direct application of opiates to the painful points. Edinb. med. surg. J. 82: 265-281, 1855.
- 147. ZWEIFACH, B. AND CHAMBERS, R.: Action of hyaluronidase extracts on capillary wall. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 52: 1047-1051, 1950.